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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

CIRCUIT CIVIL DIVISION
Inre:
Laser Spine Institute, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2762
CLM Aviation, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2764
LSI HoldCo, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2765
LSI Management Company, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2766
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Arizona, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2767

Laser Spine Surgery Center of Cincinnati, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2768
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Cleveland, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2769
Laser Spine Surgical Center, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2770
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Pennsylvania, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2771
Laser Spine Surgery Center of St. Louis, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2772
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Warwick, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2773

Medical Care Management Services, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2774
Spine DME Solutions, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2775
Total Spine Care, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2776
Laser Spine Institute Consulting, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2777
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Oklahoma, LLC Case No. 2019-CA-2780
Assignors,

Consolidated Case No:

2019-CA-2762

To:

Soneet Kapila, Division L

Assignee.

OBJECTION BY SHIRLEY AND JOHN LANGSTON AND CRYSTAL AND LEONARD
TINELLI TO ASSIGNEE’S MOTION FOR (A) ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT
AND COMPROMISE OF CLAIMS AGAINST FORMER DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
(B) ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF PROFESSIONA FEES AND (C) FINAL
JUDGMENT AS TO SETTLED CLAIMS IN LAWSUIT

Shirley Langston and John Langston (the “Langstons”) and Crystal and Leonard Tinelli
(the “Tinellis) (Collectively, “Objectors’) by and through undersigned counsel, now respectfully
file this Objection to Assignee’s Motion For (A) Order Approving Settlement And Compromise
Of Claims Against Former Directors And Officers (B) Order Authorizing Payment Of Professional

Fees And (C) Final Judgment As To Settled Claims (the “Settlement Motion™), and state:



1. The “Objectors” are plaintiffs in separate cases pending in the Circuit Court of
Hillsborough County, Florida, against former physician employees of the Laser Spine Institute,
LLC (“LSI”) for medical malpractice and other parties and claims. Objectors have also filed direct
lawsuits against former officers and managers of LSI (“LSI’s Former Managers”) alleging that
LSI’s Former Managers are directly liable to Objectors pursuant to § 605.04093 (LLCs) and §
607.0831 (corporations). These statutes provide, in pertinent part, with emphasis added:

605.04093 Limitation of liability of managers and members.—

(1) A manager in a manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a
member-managed limited liability company is not personally liable for monetary
damages to the limited liability company, its members, or any other person for any
statement, vote, decision, or failure to act regarding management or policy decisions
by a manager in a manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a member-
managed limited liability company unless:

(a) The manager or member breached or failed to perform the duties as a manager in a
manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a member-managed limited
liability company; and

(b) The manager’s or member’s breach of, or failure to perform, those duties constitutes
any of the following:

1. A violation of the criminal law unless the manager or member had a reasonable cause
to believe his, her, or its conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe such
conduct was unlawful. A judgment or other final adjudication against a manager or member
in any criminal proceeding for a violation of the criminal law estops that manager or
member from contesting the fact that such breach, or failure to perform, constitutes a
violation of the criminal law, but does not estop the manager or member from establishing
that he, she, or it had reasonable cause to believe that his, her, or its conduct was lawful or
had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful.

2. A transaction from which the manager or member derived an improper personal
benefit, directly or indirectly.

3. A distribution in violation of s. 605.0406.

4. Inaproceeding by or in the right of the limited liability company to procure a judgment
in its favor or by or in the right of a member, conscious disregard of the best interest of the
limited liability company, or willful misconduct.

5. In a proceeding by or in the right of someone other than the limited liability
company or a member, recklessness or an act or omission that was committed in bad
faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful
disregard of human rights, safety, or property.

607.0831 Liability of directors.—



(1) A director is not personally liable for monetary damages to the corporation or
any other person for any statement, vote, decision to take or not to take action, or any
failure to take any action, as a director, unless:

(a) The director breached or failed to perform his or her duties as a director; and

(b) The director’s breach of, or failure to perform, those duties constitutes any of the
following:

1. A violation of the criminal law, unless the director had reasonable cause to believe his
or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was
unlawful. A judgment or other final adjudication against a director in any criminal
proceeding for a violation of the criminal law estops that director from contesting the fact
that his or her breach, or failure to perform, constitutes a violation of the criminal law; but
does not estop the director from establishing that he or she had reasonable cause to believe
that his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her
conduct was unlawful;

2. A circumstance under which the transaction at issue is one from which the director
derived an improper personal benefit, either directly or indirectly;

3. A circumstance under which the liability provisions of s. 607.0834 are applicable;

4. In a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor
or by or in the right of a shareholder, conscious disregard for the best interest of the
corporation, or willful or intentional misconduct; or

5. In a proceeding by or in the right of someone other than the corporation or a
shareholder, recklessness or an act or omission which was committed in bad faith or
with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of
human rights, safety, or property.

This Objection hereinafter refers to the above statutory exclusion of liability protection as
“Reckless Conduct,” and contend that the Objectors have the right to sue LSI’s Former Managers
personally and directly. Assignee contends that it has the sole authority to sue LSI’s Former
Managers for claims Objectors are bringing and Assignee and the proposed release parties, by the
Settlement Motion, intend to claim that the proposed released parties will be released from
Objectors’ direct claims based on a failure of LSI’s physician employees to maintain medical
malpractice insurance.

The Objectors’ Pending Litigation:

From some point in or about 2015, LSI’s Former Managers engaged in Reckless Conduct

stripping them of the above statutory immunity from proceedings in the right of someone other

than the LLC or corporation, including Objectors, by cancelling statutorily required medical



malpractice insurance for their physician employees and caused their physician employees to
practice medicine in violation of Florida’s physician financial responsibility requirements, §
458.320. As a result, the Objectors are now suing uninsured physicians. In 2015, LSI’s Former
Managers stripped all of the balance sheet equity out of LSI and LSI affiliates by borrowing
$150,000,000 from Texas Capital Bank, N.A., and affiliated lenders, and LSI’s Former Managers
had actual knowledge that uninsured medical malpractice claims were increasing by millions of
dollars per year but continued to operate without free cash reserves to pay claims and in violation
of law by causing LSI’s physician employees to practice medicine without statutory compliance
of Florida’s financial responsibility requirements for physicians, § 458.320. Objectors allege that
this conduct constitutes “recklessness” that eliminates the statutory protections from personal
liability of § 605.04093 and § 607.0831 and exposes LSIs former managers to individual liability
(“Reckless Conduct”) to Objectors’ direct claims.
Objectors have sued or attempted to sue LSIs former managers in the following lawsuits.
There are no final binding orders entered in any cases.
The Langstons:
1) 17-CA-010423, Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida, Division B:
a. Motion to amend to add Former Managers as defendants, denied.
b. Petition for Writ of Certiorari, denied by one word order, “denied,”, which does
not establish law of the case and is not an affirmance, Bevan v. Wanicka, 505
So.2d 1116, 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (Exhibit B P. 80). (“At the outset, we
note that a simple denial of certiorari without opinion is not an affirmance and
does not establish the law of the case.”).

2) 20-CA-000930, Circuit Court Hillsborough County, Florida Division L:



This lawsuit raises the same claims as above, and was filed as a protective lawsuit in
the event that the above motion to amend was denied. There was an agreement to
extend time for responding pending the ruling of the Second DCA with a joint motion
for agreed order staying the case and an agreed order staying the case. Now that the
Second DCA has denied the Petition but without a binding order on the merits, this
case is ready to proceed. However, when undersigned counsel proceeded on that
course, the response from one defendant is that this Settlement will extinguish those
claims.

3) There is a related case pending in this case against Texas Capital Bank, which is a
lawsuit for aiding and abetting fraud and other claims. This was removed to federal
court, remand order entered, but the remand has not yet completely processed. This is
a Division L case on remand.

The Tinellis:

1) 20-CA-008352, Division L. Since the Tinellis’ medical malpractice case was filed
after undersigned counsel became aware of the Reckless Conduct allegations, one case
is filed and is pending that includes LSI’s Former Managers as defendants and includes
medical malpractice and counts based on Reckless Conduct. One defendant moved to
dismiss, others have appeared.

2) There is aremoved case pending in federal district court set for trial March 2022 against
Texas Capital Bank.

2. Assignee has opposed the Objectors’ direct claims, claiming that only the Assignee

can sue the former managers for whatever claims relate to LSI’s employee physicians’ practice of

medicine in violation of law, and Assignee asserts that only the Assignee can settle the claims



including Objectors’ direct claims against LSI’s former managers related to the lack of malpractice
insurance. Assignee, and the proposed released parties, contend that the Objectors will be barred
from suing LSI’s Former Managers for Reckless Conduct based on LSI’s physician employee’s
violation of financial responsibility laws if this settlement is approved.

3. Assignee also claims that the Assignee has the power to settle Objectors direct
claims over Objectors’ objections, and without allocating settlement amounts received in
settlement of Objectors’ direct claims, and without paying Objectors the amounts received for the
settlement of Objectors’ direct claims, and pay Objectors only as pro rata unsecured claimants. As
stated in the Settlement Motion, Assignee intends to settle all claims for a lump sum amount
without allocation of the settlement amount as to claims settled, and Assignee contends that this
eliminates Objectors’ direct claims relating to LSI’s employee physicians’ practice of medicine in
violation of law without insurance. As will be discussed later herein, Assignee’s position is
contrary to the applicable statutes and case law to date.

4. The Assignee has standing to file a Supplemental Proceeding to determine the
validity, priority, or extent of a lien or other interest in property, § 727.110 (b). However, instead
of filing a Supplemental Proceeding as required by the statute, the Assignee seeks approval of a
Settlement Agreement and General Release, (“Settlement and Release”) Exhibit A to the
Settlement Motion, in which:

a. Soneet R. Kapila (the "Assignee" or "Plaintiff"), in his capacity as the Assignee of

Laser Spine Institute, LLC ("LSI") is defined as one of the “Parties”;

b. The “Claims” the Assignee proposes to settle include claims against former managers,

and officers for, “failing to obtain adequate insurance coverage for the Companies and

improperly implementing or continuing self-insurance programs for professional



5.

liability insurance, medical malpractice insurance, Settlement Agreement and General
Release, Exhibit A to the Motion (“Settlement and Release™) P. 3;
The Settlement and Release includes language that, “the Parties agree that the Assignee
has sole legal standing and authority to pursue and settle the Claims in accordance with
Chapter 727, Florida Statutes, as assignee for the benefit of creditors of the LSI
Entities,” Settlement and Release, Page 3, and to the extent that the proposed Order is
entered, the proposed Order grants the Motion approving the Settlement and Release
and thereby would arguably ratify and adopt this conclusion of law;
The “Release” the Assignee proposes to grant to the Releasees includes a release from,
“any claims for failing to obtain adequate insurance coverage for the Companies and
implementing or continuing self-insurance programs for professional liability
insurance, medical malpractice insurance, and employee health insurance,” Settlement
and Release, P. 5;
The dismissal includes the agreement to “to dismiss with prejudice all claims in the
Lawsuits by filing Joint Stipulations for Dismissal with Prejudice within five business
days from Plaintiff's receipt of the Settlement Payment,” Settlement and Release, P. 6.
The Proposed Order (“Proposed Order”) includes the following provisions:
“In the context of a Chapter 727 assignment, the Assignee has the sole authority and
standing to prosecute the Claims being resolved and enter into a Settlement in
connection therewith. Moffatt & Nichol, Inc. v. B.E.A. International Corp, Inc., 48
So0.3d 896, 899 (Fla. 3d. DCA 2010) (finding that an assignee is the only party who

has standing to pursue and settle fraudulent transfer, preferential transfer and other



derivative claims); Smith v. Effective Teleservices, Inc., 133 So.3d 1048, 1053 (Fla.

4th DCA 2014) (same),” (Proposed Order, P. 2);

b. The Proposed Order grants the Motion, approves the releases, authorize the dismissal

of the lawsuits.

Background Facts:

6.

Texas Capital Bank, N.A., (“TCB”) as the Swing Line Lender, L/C Issuer, and

Administrative Agent for multiple lenders of lenders entered a Credit Agreement with LSI and

affiliates, loaned LSI approximately $150,000,000.00, and received a priority lien on all assets

other than tort claims. It appears that the tort claims Assignee proposes to settle are not within the

priority lien claims of TCB. However, prior to the filing of this Petition for Assignment for the

Benefit of Creditors, TCB claimed a perfected priority lien on all assets including all cash and cash

accounts. Section 7.12 (b) of the Credit Agreement provides for the establishment of a Cash

Reserve Account (“Cash Reserve Account”) and states, verbatim:

(b) Borrowers shall maintain the Cash Reserve Account! at all times. provided,
that Administrative Agent and Required Lenders may, in their sole discretion after
Borrower Representative's written request, waive such requirement, in whole or in
part, based on various factors, including but not limited to whether (i) any litigation
or material claims exist involving non-medical malpractice matters. and (ii) all
medical malpractice claims and potential litigation related to such claims are
properly reserved for in the Cash Reserve Account in amounts that are considered
commercially reasonable based on the Borrowers' historical settlement experience
and the probable near term losses associated with claims and, provided, further,
that, Administrative Agent shall deposit in one of Borrowers' operating accounts
maintained in accordance with Section 7.12(a) all interest and other income earned
from time to time on the Cash Reserve Account so long as the Cash Reserve
Account balance is not less than $10.000,000.

! The Cash Reserve Account is defined in Article 1 as “““Cash Reserve Account” means a
restricted access deposit account maintained at Administrative Agent in an amount of at least

$10,000,000.”



7. Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement and the UCC Financing Statement,
together with related Loan Documents, TCB claims a perfected priority lien in all assets of LSI
assigned to Assignee in the Assignment Case.

8. At all times after July 2, 2015, TCB held a first lien on the Cash Reserve Account,
TCB had the power to require LSI to maintain the Cash Reserve Account, and TCB retained the
“sole discretion” to waive the Cash Reserve Account only upon (a) LSI’s written request and (b)
TCB’s determination that “all medical malpractice claims and potential litigation related to such
claims are properly reserved for in the Cash Reserve Account in amounts that are considered
commercially reasonable.” However, TCB held a first lien securing all of LSI’s borrowing under
the Credit Agreement, including a first lien on any amounts designed as the Cash Reserve
Account. By this means, TCB controlled whether or not funds were available to pay LSI’s medical
malpractice claims.

0. Under Florida law, LSI’s employee physicians were obligated to comply with the
Financial Responsibility Requirements of Section 458.320, Fla. Stat. LSI treated patients in an
ambulatory surgical center licensed under Chapter 395, Fla. Stat., and therefore LSI’s employee
physicians were required to maintain one of the following minimum financial responsibility
requirements as stated in § 458.320 (2), Fla. Stat.:

a. Establishing and maintaining an escrow account consisting of cash or assets eligible
for deposit in an amount not less than $250,000 per claim, with a minimum annual
aggregate of not less than $750,000;

b. Obtaining and maintaining professional liability coverage in an amount not less
than $250,000 per claim, with a minimum annual aggregate of not less than

$750,000, with various alternatives as set forth in the statute, including “through a



plan of self-insurance as provided in s. 627.357, or through a plan of self-insurance
which meets the conditions specified for satisfying financial responsibility in s.
766.110;” or

c. Obtaining and maintaining an unexpired irrevocable letter of credit, established
pursuant to chapter 675, in an amount not less than $250,000 per claim, with a

minimum aggregate availability of credit of not less than $750,000.
10. The “Notes” to the LSI Holdco and Subsidiary Consolidated Financial Statements,
Exhibit A, Page 32, contain the following at Note 5, with “Dollars in 000’s,” meaning, that where
the below states, the “self-insured retention, is $1,000 per incident, it means $1.000,000 per

incident.”

Malpractice Professional Liability Insurance

The Company is a party to claims filed against it in the normal course of business,
principally related to malpractice assertions. The Company purchased professional
liability insurance coverage on a claims-made basis with a per claim limit of
$20,000, an annual aggregate limit of $20,000, and a self-insured retention amount
of $1,000 per incident. During 2016, the Company added a self-insured annual
aggregate limit of $6,000. In addition the Company purchased excess coverage with
an annual aggregate limit of $30,000. Prior to March 1, 2014, the Company
maintained professional liability insurance coverage on a claims-made basis with a
per claim limit of $1,000, an annual aggregate limit of $3,000, and a self-insured
retention amount of $100 per incident. In addition the Company purchased excess
coverage with an annual aggregate limit of $20,000.

Malpractice Professional Liability Insurance (Continued)

The provision for estimated medical malpractice claims and other claims includes
estimates of the ultimate costs for both reported claims and claims incurred but not
reported. In 2017 and 2016, the Company engaged an independent actuarial firm to
assist in determining the provision for medical malpractice claims, including
incurred but not reported losses. The Company has used a similar method to estimate
insurance recoveries related to these claims. The Company's estimated accrual
totaled approximately $14,236 as of December 31, 2017, of which
approximately $5,566 is included in accrued expenses and approximately
$8,670 is in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated alance
sheets. The Company's estimated accrual totaled approximately $12,300 as of
December 31, 2016, of which approximately $5,600 is included in accrued
expenses and approximately $6,700 is in other long-term liabilities in the

10



accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company has also recorded
approximately $5,566 and $5,600 of estimated insurance recoveries as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which is included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. The estimated amounts for professional liability claims included in the
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2017 and 2016, were not
discounted.

Expense incurred related to professional and general liability policies totaled
approximately $3,403 and $4,661 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses on the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

(Emphasis added).]

The above paragraph emphasized in bold indicates that for 2017, the total estimated
accrued medical malpractice liability was $14,236,000.00, that would be offset by $5,566,000.00
in estimate insurance recoveries, yielding an estimated uninsured medical malpractice claim
exposure without cash reserves of approximately $8,670,000.00 for 2017. For the year 2016, the
accrued amount is $12,300,000.00, to be offset by $5,600,000.00 in estimated insurance
recoveries, yielding an estimated uninsured medical malpractice claim exposure without cash
reserves of approximately $6,700,000.00. The records therefore show that the former managers
not only knew that LSI was amassing millions of dollars of uninsured medical malpractice claims

without operating reserves to pay the claims, but also, that the claims were increasing from 2016

through 2017.

11. Accordingly, based on the financial records, the Managers had actual knowledge
that LSI was operating without insurance for the first $1,000,000.00 per medical malpractice claim
incurred. Coupled with the above description of the TCB loan and lien, LSI’s managers therefore
had actual knowledge that all of the medical malpractice claims being incurred were not only
uninsured, but that LSI had no free cash reserves to pay the claims. At least by 2016, and

continuing through the present, LSI’s former managers, who Assignee now proposes to release of

11



all claims, were causing LSI to fail to maintain customary professional liability insurance as
required by Florida law for no apparent reason other than to save money on insurance premiums
and shift the risk of medical malpractice to LSI’s physician employees, who were illegally
practicing medicine, and to LSI’s physician employee’s patients, including the Objectors, who
underwent uninsured surgeries. The Cash Reserve Account required by the Credit Agreement did
not comply with the requirements of any self-insurance requirements of § 458.320, Fla. Stat.
because it was not set up through Florida’s Department of Insurance, did not require an escrow
account not subject to TCB’s liens, and did not otherwise comply with the requirements of §
458.320, Fla. Stat. and Florida Administrative Code Chapter 690-187, “Professional Liability
Self-Insurance Trust Funds,” including the requirement to file an application with the Florida
Department of Insurance, the establishment of a trust fund that would be free from TCB’s first
priority lien, and require a “run-off” mode to ensure that all claims were paid before the plan was
terminated.

12. Regardless of the Assignee’s and LSI’s protestations to the contrary, LSI’s
physician employees were not in compliance with Florida’s financial responsibility requirements
under § 458.320, Fla. Stat., from at least some point in 2016 through the cessation of business in
March of 2019. To the extent that either the Assignee continues to claim that there are issues that
LSI’s physicians may have been in compliance, Objectors are entitled to the filing of a
Supplemental Proceeding and a full evidentiary determination of these facts. However, on material
facts not in dispute, based on the explicit language of both the insurance policies and the audited
financial statements, LSI’s physician employees were operating in violation of law.

13. LSI’s financial statements disclose the fact that LSI was amassing millions of

dollars in uninsured medical malpractice claims without reserves and while LSI and affiliates were

12



insolvent on a balance sheet basis. Indeed, upon or within a few months of the TCB loan in July
of 2015, LSI became insolvent on a balance sheet basis:

a. The December 2015 financial statement Exhibit A, Page 203, shows
$5,800,000.00 in professional liability exposure and showing that LSI was
insolvent by $46,677,819.00;

b. By June of 2017, Exhibit A Page 1, the balance sheet shows that the level of
insolvency had increased to $73,461,704.00, so in 18 months, the level of
insolvency had increased by approximately $29,000,000.00. Further, this exhibit
shows that LSI and its former managers had actual knowledge that professional
liability risks had increased to $7,250,205.00, while the Cash Reserve Account was
zero and while LSI was insolvent. After December of 2015, LSI operated without
even the Cash Reserve Account, which is shown as having a zero balance sometime
after December 2015. Accordingly, LSI’s management knew that LSI was
incurring medical malpractice liability without the ability to pay said claims and
was insolvent; and TCB was claiming a first priority lien on all receivables and
income generated by LSI through LSI’s foregoing illegal conduct. LSI’s former
managers knew that the company’s insolvency was increasing in an unsustainable
level at about $1.61 million per month, so the company was clearly overleveraged,
undercapitalized, and losing money on operations. This is confirmed by the 2018
financial statement, Exhibit A Page 10, showing a January 2018 negative deficit of
$104,005.501, or approximately $58,000,000 additional negative equity in the 24
month period from December 2015 through January 2018. Again, this shows losses

of approximately $2.41 million dollars per month in operations. So management

13



knew that (1) the company was insolvent (2) the insolvency was increasing and (3)
the monthly losses were increasing. Management also knew that the medical
malpractice claims were uninsured with no reserves and were increasing.

14. Against this backdrop, pursuant to the physician-patient relationship LSI and its
former managers knew that LSI’s employee physicians assumed a position of trust and confidence
with patients, and LSI’s former managers knew that the non-disclosure by LSI of LSI’s employee
physicians practice of medicine in violation of Florida’s Financial Responsibility requirements of
§ 458.320, Fla. Stat. while LSI was insolvent constituted the fraudulent concealment of material
facts from LSI’s patients.

15. LSI caused LSI’s employee physicians to fraudulently and/or recklessly conceal
from patients the fact that LSI was causing its physician employees to practice medicine in
violation of the Financial Responsibility requirements of § 458.320, Fla. Stat., and LSI’s former
managers had actual knowledge that:

a. By review of financial balance sheets before 2015, Exhibit A Page 208, there were
no carried liabilities for “professional liability risks” through at least February
2015;

b. By December of 2015, LSI balance sheet showed professional liability risks of
$5,800,000.00; and for June of 2016, $5,497,219; Exhibit A Page 204;

c. LSI balance sheets showed professional liability risks of December 2016 in the
amount of $6,696,521; March of 2017, $7,188,201; and April 2017 $7,250,205,
Exhibit A Page 1.

d. By December of 2017, the carried professional liability risk was $8,669,934.00,

Exhibit A Page 8.

14



.

LSI’s former managers also had actual knowledge that LSI was exposed to one

million dollars per claim from both actual insurance policies provided, Exhibit A

Page 11, and received a detailed explanation in the Consolidated Financial

Statements for Years Ending December 31, 2016 and 2017. The Consolidated

Financial Statements for the Years Ending December 31, 2016 and December 31,

2017 also state that LSI had retained an independent actuarial firm who estimated

accrued total was $14,236,000.00.

In addition to the foregoing, by August of 2017, LSI began supplying “Confidential

and Privileged Report on Litigation”, Exhibit A, Pages 39-202, that show the

following:

1.

ii.

1il.

1v.

vi.

June 2017: 8 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 4 self insured
claims in presuit ($12,000,000.00 exposure);

August 2017: 8 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 5 self insured
claims in presuit ($13,000,000.00 exposure);

September 2017: 8 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 4 self
insured claims in presuit ($12,000,000.00 exposure);

October 2017: 8 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 3 self
insured claims in presuit ($11,000,000.00 exposure);

November 2017: 14 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 2 self
insured claims in presuit ($16,000,000.00 exposure);

December 2017: 13 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 1 self

insured claims in presuit ($14,000,000.00 exposure);

15



vil.

Viil.

IX.

X1.

Xil.

Xiil.

February 2018: 15 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 1 self
insured claims in presuit ($16,000,000.00 exposure);

March 2018: 15 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 2 self insured
claims in presuit ($17,000,000.00 exposure);

August 2018: 17 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 2 self
insured claims in presuit ($19,000,000.00 exposure);

September 2018: 17 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 2 self
insured claims in presuit ($19,000,000.00 exposure);

October 2018: 17 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 3 self
insured claims in presuit ($19,000,000.00 exposure);

November 2018: 16 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 3 self
insured claims in presuit ($19,000,000.00 exposure);

December 2018: 17 self insured claims up to $1,000,000 each plus 3 self

insured claims in presuit ($20,000,000.00 exposure)

. LSI was causing physician employees to practice medicine in violation of Florida’s

Financial Responsibility requirements of § 458.320, Fla. Stat.;

. LSI was incurring millions of dollars in liability for medical malpractice claims;

LSI was insolvent, operating without the legal minimum insurance requirements as

required by § 458.320, Fla. Stat., and unable to pay the accruing medical

malpractice claims;

LSI was plunging into insolvency while increasing medical malpractice liability;

and
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k. In spite of the foregoing, the former managers continued to operate without
statutorily required insurance amassing an ever increasing uninsured medical
malpractice claim level without operating reserves to pay claims, and without free
assets to pay claims because all assets were pledged to TCB and LSI was insolvent
in an amount of almost $100,000,000.00 by 2017.

16. LSI currently contends that it is uninsured and that no funding is available to pay
medical malpractice claims.

Argument
Issue 1: Only this Court has Subject Matter to Determine the Scope of the Assignee’s
Release, and the Order is Ambiguous as to Whether the Objectors’ Individual Direct Claims
are Intended to be Released.

The Objectors have claims pending against the LSI’s Former Managers for Reckless
Conduct who are the proposed releasees, and the Assignee takes the position that only the Assignee
controls all claims against the former managers and this settlement extinguishes any claims of the
Objectors against the former managers.

Only this Court has the subject matter jurisdiction to determine the assets of the estate. The
Settlement Motion, the Settlement and Release, and the Order, are ambiguous as to whether the
direct claims of the Objectors for Reckless Conduct by causing LSI’s physician employees to
practice medicine in violation of law would purport to be extinguished by an order approving the
Settlement Motion. It is clear to Objectors that the Settlement Motion, the Settlement and Release,
and the Order, are written in such a way to provide language so the released parties may claim that
Objectors’ direct claims for Reckless Conduct are extinguished by this settlement. Objectors’
counsel has been notified by one attorney represented one party who would be released under this

settlement that the party contends that the release will extinguish all claims of the Objectors.
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Assignee will argue in the lawsuits filed by the Objectors that the claims of the Objectors have
been released. The Motion should be denied to the extent that there should be no ambiguity. This
Court is the only Court that has subject matter jurisdiction to determine property of the Assignors’
estates, and the Order should leave no ambiguity. The Order should state clearly state whether all
claims of the Objectors based on the practice of medicine by LSI’s physician employees without
statutorily compliant financial responsibility pursuant to § 458.320, Fla. Stat., are extinguished
and released and cite the specific cases pending that are affected by this release or identify what
claims are released and what claims survive.
Issue 2: The Assignee has no Standing to Sue the Former Managers. The In Pari Delicto
Defense Precludes a Corporation from Suing its Insiders where the Corporation Itself
Engaged in the Illegal Conduct.

In O'Halloran v. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 969 So. 2d 1039, 1046 (Fla. 2d DCA
2007) (Exhibit B Page 71) Florida’s Second DCA recognized that the doctrine of in pari delicto
may operate to preclude a bankruptcy trustee from suing third parties. The Court states:

In pari delicto means "in equal fault." . . . "In pari delicto refers to the plaintiftf's

participation in the same wrongdoing as the defendant." (citations omitted) . . . Broadly

speaking, the defense prohibits plaintiffs from recovering damages resulting from their
own wrongdoing." (citations omitted).

The defense [of in pari delicto] is grounded on two premises: first, that courts should not
lend their good offices to mediating disputes among wrongdoers; and second, that denying
judicial relief to an admitted wrongdoer is an effective means of deterring illegality.

Where the defense of in pari delicto is asserted against a corporate entity based on the

misconduct of the corporation's agents, it must be determined whether the misconduct of
those agents is properly imputed to the corporation.

But if a corporate agent was "acting adversely to the corporation's interests, the knowledge
and misconduct of the agent are not imputed to the corporation." (citations omitted) . . .

This limitation on the general rule that the acts of a corporate agent are imputed to the
corporation is commonly known as the "adverse interest exception." (citations omitted).
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In summary, determining whether misconduct should be imputed to a corporation requires

that the focus of analysis be on whether the misconduct was calculated to benefit the

corporation. The misconduct will be imputed where the corporation has been operated as
an "engine of theft."

O'Halloran v. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 969 So. 2d 1039, 1044-46 (Fla. 2d DCA
2007).

In O'Halloran, after confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan of reorganization in bankruptcy
court, the bankruptcy trustee sued third parties in state court. The trial court dismissed on the
grounds of in pari delicto. The Second DCA recognized that the in pari delicto defense applied to
bankruptcy trustees:

The law is well established that under § 541(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, "[a] bankruptcy

trustee stands in the shoes of the debtor." (citations omitted). "If a claim of [the debtor]

would have been subject to the defense of in pari delicto at the commencement of the
bankruptcy, then the same claim, when asserted by the trustee, is subject to the same

affirmative defense." Id.; (citations omitted), /d., at 1046.

Because the bankruptcy trustee had alleged facts to allege that the misconduct of the entity
can be considered distinct from the alleged misconduct of the corporate agents because there was
no allegation that the corporate insiders participated in the specific wrongdoing alleged against the
entity, the Second DCA reversed the dismissal, but stated that the defendants had the right on
remand to establish “the facts necessary to support” the in pari delicto defense, /d., at 1047.

In Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of PSA, Inc. v. Edwards, 437 F.3d 1145 (11th
Cir. 2006) (Exhibit B Page 61), the Eleventh Circuit articulated that the bankruptcy definition of
property of the estate and stated that "[l]egal interests or equitable interests" include any causes
of action the debtor may bring,” Id., at 1149. This means that if a trustee cannot “bring” the action,
it is not property of the estate. Accordingly, where the doctrine of in pari delicto bars the trustee

from suing, the claim is not property of the estate. “A trustee, as the representative of the estate,

succeeds into the rights of the debtor-in-bankruptcy and has standing to bring any suit that the
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debtor corporation could have brought outside of bankruptcy,” Id. at 1149. Stating that the
bankruptcy trustee “stands in the shoes,” Id. at 1150, and “[i]f a claim of [the entity] would have
been subject to the defense of in pari delicto at the commencement of the bankruptcy, then the
same claim, when asserted by the trustee, is subject to the same affirmative defense, /d. at 1150,
applying the doctrine, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the dismissal of a R.I.C.O. complaint “because
[the entity] was an active participant in the Ponzi scheme . . . recovery was barred based on the
face of his complaint, /d. at 1150, by the in pari delicto doctrine.

Here, the nonpayment of insurance was not done for the purpose of injuring LSI. To the
contrary, the nonpayment of insurance and the operation of the corporation by physician
employees violating the law was done for the purpose of benefitting LSI by saving insurance
premiums through illegal self-insurance, creating LSI as an “engine of theft,” . O'Halloran, 969
So. 2d at 1046. LSI’s managers decided to expose the patients of LSI’s physician employees to
illegal uninsured surgeries in order to benefit, not to harm, LSI, through illegal conduct. Like
driving an uninsured vehicle, the owner saves money unless there is a collision. Here, the Assignee
has not done an analysis of whether all of the premiums saved by LSI, through the intentional
violation of law governing its physician employees implemented by the former managers to expose
LSI’s patients to uninsured surgeries, may ultimately have resulted in no monetary damage to LSI.
If LSI save more in premiums than it paid in claims, the illegal conduct of LSI caused no actual
damage but may have financially benefitted LSI. But there is no evidence that the illegal conduct
of the former managers was done to injure LSI. There is no reasonable argument that the lack of
insurance caused LSI to cease operations. But, since LSI, through its former managers, was the
“engine of theft” O'Halloran, 969 So. 2d at 1046, LSI cannot now sue its former managers for

the failure to obtain insurance, and the Assignee therefore has no standing to sue its former
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managers for claims relating to the decision by the former mangers to conduct business by causing
its physician employees to violate the law. Accordingly, LSI cannot sue its former managers due
to the doctrine of in pari delicto:

In the instant complaint for damages to creditors caused by the fraudulent conduct of the

debtor corporation and others such as corporate affiliates or directors, the bankruptcy

trustee does not have standing to sue the third parties because the cause of action belongs
to the injured creditors and not to the debtor corporation. (citations omitted). Because the
bankruptcy trustee stands in the shoes of the debtor corporation, she has standing only to
bring those actions that the debtor corporation could have brought. (citations omitted). The
fact that the debtor was acting in pari delicto with third parties whose wrongdoing allegedly
injured the debtor bars recovery by the trustee on a suit filed against those same third parties
on behalf of the debtor's estate. Nat'l City Bank of Minneapolis v. Lapides (In re Transcolor

Corp.), 296 B.R. 343, 367 (Bankr. D. Md. 2003).

The point here is that, due to the in pari delicto defense, the Assignee has no standing to
try to settle claims against former managers relating to LSI’s decision to cause its physician
employees to violate the law because the Assignee cannot sue them in the first place. The claims
cannot be brought by the Assignee because the Assignors were in pari delicto. As has been often
cited, Chapter 727 defines the scope of causes of action that are property of the estates as, “claims
and causes of action, whether arising by contract or in tort, wherever located, and by whomever
held at the date of the assignment,” § 727.103 (1). The in pari delicto defense eliminates the
Assignee’s “claim or cause of action” because, where the in pari delicto defense exists, the claim
cannot be brought and is therefore not property of the estate.

Moreover, as the Second DCA has ruled that the in pari delicto defense requires a factual
analysis, as stated below, the Assignee cannot ask the Court to determine whether the Assignee
has an interest in the claim except by Supplemental Proceeding. While the Assignee can sue the

former managers to recoup fraudulent conveyances where the former managers looted the entity

and removed assets from the entity, the Assignee cannot sue former managers for illegal conduct
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by the former managers that was taken for the benefit of the corporation and for the purpose of
injuring third parties. The Assignee, standing in the shoes of the entity, has no standing to sue for
claims relating to the uninsured medical malpractice claims. The Assignee is attempting to release
parties from claims the Assignee does not have and cannot bring, and the Motion must be denied.
Issue 3: The Assignee Cannot Release the Released Parties from the Claims of the Tinellis
and the Langstons.

The Langstons and the Tinellis are pursuing statutory claims under Florida’s LLC Act,
Chapter 605, and Florida’ corporations Act, Chapter 607. While the Settlement Motion and the
Settlement and Release do not specifically identify the direct claims of the Langstons and Tinellis
as being extinguished and released, there is no question that the Assignee intends for that to occur
and is simply leaving it ambiguous for other courts to work through the order. But the Assignee
does not control any claims of the Langstons and Tinellis.

Various bankruptcy courts have worked through this issue and the ultimate analysis is a
determination under state law of whether a corporation can pierce its own corporate veil. There is
no binding precedent in Florida from either a district court of appeals or the Florida Supreme Court.
In an opinion from the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Middle District of Florida, Orlando
Division, In re Xenerga, Inc., 449 B.R. 594 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2011) (Exhibit B Page 55). In
Xenerga, the Court held that an alter ego veil piercing claim, relying on Baillie Lumber Co. v.
Thompson, 391 F.3d 1315 (11th Cir. 2004) (Exhibit B Page 48) (the Baillie case is frequently
referred to as “Icarus Holdings™), is property of the estate, but direct claims, such as the claims

filed by Objectors, are not:

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has held an alter ego action belongs to the
bankruptcy estate under § 541 if (1) it is "a general claim that is common to all creditors,"
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and (2) state law allows the corporate entity to bring an alter ego action against its principal.
An alter ego claim is a general one when liability extends "to all creditors of the corporation
without regard to the personal dealings between such officers and such creditors." In other
words, if the injury alleged in the alter ego action is an injury to the corporation and thus
suffered generally by all creditors, and is not an injury inflicted directly on any one creditor,
the trustee has exclusive standing to bring such an alter ego action. Conversely, a trustee
may not bring an alter ego claim if the alleged injury is specific to one creditor and not to
the debtor corporation and creditors generally. In re Xenerga, Inc., 449 B.R. 594, 598-99
(Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2011) (Exhibit B Page 55).

In Xenerga, the issue before the Court was exactly the issue here. The bankruptcy trustee
was proposing a settlement to release insiders from all veil piercing claims including direct claims
filed by creditors. The court ultimately allowed the trustee standing to release alter ego claims that
any creditor could bring, but denied the motion because the trustee was trying to also release direct
claims permitted by statute that the creditors were bringing directly against the parties to be
released. This is exactly what the Assignee is doing here. Specifically, the Xenerga court held:

NTAE, however, has raised two direct claims against the Principals that do not rely upon
either an alter ego finding or the debtor's independent liability: (1) its claim that the
Principals are each individually liable under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act (Count IX), and (2) its claim that the Principles and Filta conspired with
Xenerga to violate FDUTPA and commit other wrongful actions (Count X). Well
established Florida case law holds that claims against a corporation's principal under the
FDUTPA need only "allege that the individual was a direct participant in the improper
dealings." 21 Piercing the corporate veil is unnecessary to find a corporation's principal
individually liable. 22 NTAE thus need not bring an alter ego action to establish the
Principals' liability under the FDUTPA. Accordingly, NTAE's claim under FDUTPA is a
direct claim against the Principals that belongs solely to NTAE and not the estate.
Likewise, NTAE's conspiracy claim is directly against the Principals and Filta. The claim
alleges Clewes and Sayers each conspired with Xenerga and Filta to commit unlawful
acts, including fraudulent inducement into two contracts, fraudulent transfer of funds,
violation of the FUDTPA, and breaches of fiduciary duties. The claim does not rely upon
an alter ego finding because it alleges the Clewes and Sayers are liable in their capacity
as individuals for conspiring with Xenerga and Filta. Thus, to the extent NTAE's
conspiracy claim is a viable claim it is a direct claim against the Principals and Filta.
Because two of the Claims the trustee seeks to settle are direct claims held by NTAE
against non-debtors, the trustee cannot settle these two claims. The proposed compromise
improperly attempts to settle claims that are not property of the debtor's estate under § 541
of the Bankruptcy Code. Id., at 600.
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The claims of the Objectors are direct claims by statute. § 605.04093. The Objectors are
suing for the Objectors’ damages pursuant to § 605.04093 (1) (a) and (b) (5) which the Assignee
is not doing and cannot do. There is nothing in § 605.04093 that suggests that an action by either
the LLC or its Assignee insulates Former Managers from an action by a third party pursuant to §
605.04093 (1) (a) and (b) (5). The statute provides:

605.04093 Limitation of liability of managers and members.—
(1) A manager in a manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a member-
managed limited liability company is not personally liable for monetary damages to the
limited liability company, its members, or any other person for any statement, vote,
decision, or failure to act regarding management or policy decisions by a manager in a
manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a member-managed limited
liability company unless:
(a) The manager or member breached or failed to perform the duties as a manager in a
manager-managed limited liability company or a member in a member-managed limited
liability company; and
(b) The manager's or member's breach of, or failure to perform, those duties constitutes
any of the following:

1. A violation of the criminal law unless the manager or member had a
reasonable

cause to believe his, her, or its conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe
such conduct was unlawful. A judgment or other final adjudication against a manager or
member in any criminal proceeding for a violation of the criminal law estops that manager
or member from contesting the fact that such breach, or failure to perform, constitutes a
violation of the criminal law, but does not estop the manager or member from establishing
that he, she, or it had reasonable cause to believe that his, her, or its conduct was lawful or
had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful.

2. A transaction from which the manager or member derived an improper personal
benefit, directly or indirectly.

3. A distribution in violation of s. 605.0406.

4. In a proceeding by or in the right of the limited liability company to procure a
judgment in its favor or by or in the right of a member, conscious disregard of the best
interest of the limited liability company, or willful misconduct.

5. In a proceeding by or in the right of someone other than the limited liability
company or a member, recklessness or an act or omission that was committed in bad faith
or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human
rights, safety, or property.
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Since the LLC cannot insulate its managers from third party lawsuits, the Assignee cannot
declare the former managers insulated or immune from third party lawsuits. The Assignee only
has whatever property rights the LLC had, as stated in 727.103 (1). The Assignee is the assignee
of the assets of the LLC, nothing more. Since the LLC cannot stop third parties from suing its
former managers, the Assignee cannot stop third parties from suing its former managers. As the
Eleventh Circuit recently stated:

Our analysis is straightforward. "[I]n interpreting a statute a court should always turn first

to one, cardinal canon before all others. We have stated time and again that courts must

presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says
there." Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54, 112 S. Ct. 1146, 117 L. Ed. 2d

391 (1992). "When the words of a statute are unambiguous . . . [our] judicial inquiry is

complete." Villarreal v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 839 F.3d 958, 969 (11th Cir. 2016)

(quoting Conn. Nat'l Bank, 503 U.S. at 254).

Gil v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., No. 17-13467, 2021 U.S. App. LEXIS 10024, at *17 (11th
Cir. Apr. 7, 2021).(Exhibit B Page 19).

There is nothing in the text of either Chapter 605 or 607 that marginally suggests or alludes
to the Assignee’s claim that direct causes of action of “someone other than the limited liability
company or a member” can somehow be extinguished by either the LLC, or the Assignee, as the
LLC’s successor in interest. This is not a matter of “equity,” “fairness,” whether the Objectors
are trying to “skip the line,” as the Assignee has declared the Objectors are attempting, or any other
the other legislative considerations that might go into amending the statute. The matter is, as the
Eleventh Circuit states, the “legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what
it says there,” and what it says in the legislation is that third parties may bring direct proceedings
against former managers and officers. The Assignee’s resort to comparison to bankruptcy cases

does not expand this because, as stated above.
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Issue 4: If the Assignee Owns the Claims, the Released Parties are Liable for 100% of All
Claims- In this Case, $500,000,000.00 or more in claims. The $9,000,000.00 Settlement is
facially insufficient.

When the Assignee declares that it has the right to bring claims on behalf of all creditors,
the more correct way to say it is that the Assignee has the right to bring the total sum of all claims
of all creditors. When a corporate veil is avoided on behalf of all creditors, the result is that the
individuals doing business are liable for 100% of the debt. Here, that appears to be in excess of
five hundred million dollars.

This analysis is borne out by two opinions from the same case, Baillie Lumber Co. v.
Thompson, 391 F.3d 1315 (11th Cir. 2004) )(“Baillie I’) (Exhibit B Page 48); Baillie Lumber Co.
v. Thompson, 279 Ga. 288, 612 S.E.2d 296 (2005) (Exhibit B Page 14). Baillie Lumber Co., LP v.
Thompson, 413 F.3d 1293 (11th Cir. 2005) (“Baillie II”’) adopted the Georgia Supreme Court’s
analysis. In Baillie I (which is referred to in the Xenerga opinion as “Icarus Holdings,”), Icarus
filed bankruptcy, and Baillie Lumber had sold lumber to Icarus prepetition. Icarus’ primary
member had engaged in financial irregularities that harmed Icarus’ liquidity. After bankruptcy,
Icarus sued its member. Baillie also sued the member in state court, alleging an alter ego claim,
and argued in bankruptcy court that Baillie’s claim against the member was not property of the
bankruptcy estate. “Baillie contends that Icarus and the Official Committee of Unsecured
Creditors of Icarus ("Committee") have no authority to settle the alter ego claim against
Thompson,” Baillie, 391 F.3d at 1318,. After reviewing conflicting decisions out of different
courts, the Eleventh Circuit states:

[W]e hold that in order to bring an exclusive alter ego action under section 541, a

bankruptcy trustee's claim should (1) be a general claim that is common to all creditors and

(2) be allowed by state law. See In re iPCS, Inc., 297 B.R. 283, 297 (Bankr. N.D. Ga.

2003). In this action, we find that Baillie Lumber asserts only a general cause of action and

no personal damages that are unique to them. Baillie Lumber's claim would be personal if
Baillie Lumber itself was "harmed and no other . . . creditor has an interest in the cause."

26



Koch, 831 F.2d at 1348. The claim is a general one when liability extends "to all creditors
of the corporation without regard to the personal dealings between such officers and such
creditors." Id. at 1349. Here, the assertion is that Thompson blurred the line between
himself and the corporation by taking assets of the corporation and using them to his own
personal ends. Unlike the Steinberg shareholders, Thompson did "loot" the corporate
assets. An alter ego action under these circumstances could be brought by all creditors of

Icarus. Baillie Lumber has shown no unique or personal harm aside from the fact that each

creditor would demand a different amount in compensation. By misappropriating corporate

assets, Thomson caused direct harm to the corporation and only indirect harm to Baillie

Lumber. Thus, this action meets our first factor. However, it is unclear whether Georgia

law allows a corporation to bring an alter ego action against itself.

Baillie Lumber Co. v. Thompson, 391 F.3d 1315, 1321 (11th Cir. 2004).

The Eleventh Circuit then certified the state law question of whether Georgia law allowed
the representative of a debtor corporation to bring an alter ego claim against the corporation’s
former principal to the Georgia Supreme Court, and in Baillie Lumber Co. v. Thompson, 279 Ga.
288, 612 S.E.2d 296 (2005), the Supreme Court answered the question in the affirmative, and
added, “Thus, it is readily apparent that where the corporate entity is disregarded, a principal found
liable under an alter ego theory should be liable for the entirety of the corporation's debt,” /d., at
301. This is consistent with Florida law, Mayer v. Eastwood-Smith & Co., 164 So. 684 (1935)
(“when fraud or illegal act is attempted, fiction will be disregarded by the court and the acts of the
real parties dealt with as though no corporation had been formed”), cited by USP Real Estate Inv.
Trust v. Discount Auto Parts, Inc., 570 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1D DCA 1990).

This is also consistent with the Assignee’s claim here. The Assignee claims to be suing
the parties to be released on behalf of all creditors. The Assignee claims that it is now releasing
the claims of all creditors. That is the sum total of all claims of all creditors. The Assignee,

therefore, is releasing hundreds of millions of dollars in claims for $9,000,000.00. As set forth

below, the Assignee has offered no evidence to support the Motion and the Motion must be denied.

Issue 5: This Settlement requires a Supplemental Proceeding.
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This Court has exclusive subject matter jurisdiction to determine property of the estate, §
727.109 (8) (b) (“determine any of the following actions brought by the assignee, which she or he
is empowered to maintain: . . . (b) Determine the validity, priority, and extent of a lien or other
interests in assets of the estate.” Here, the Assignee has simply “declared” that the Assignee owns
all claims against the parties to be released relating to the violations of Florida’s professional
liability statute by LSI’s physician employees, and the Assignee further intends to release the
parties. Obviously, the idea is that the released parties will then carry these releases into litigation
brought by Objectors and seek dismissals, thereby effectively arguing that the other courts must
determine whether or not the Assignee’s release in fact releases them from the direct claims
brought by the Objectors. There is no purpose in granting an \ambiguous motion or entering an
ambiguous order. As described above, there are two factual and legal issues that must be litigated:

1) Whether the in pari delicto defense eliminates causes of action the Assignee has brought
against the proposed released parties, and therefore, whether the Assignee has standing to
deliver the releases; and

2) Whether the Assignee can also release direct claims that the Objectors are bringing against
anyone, that is, whether the Objectors claims are property of the Assignment Estates.

As described in Chapter 727, for the Assignee to ask the Court to determine the extent of an

interest in assets of the estate, a Supplemental Proceeding is required per § 727.110 (1) (b):

727.110 Actions by assignee and other parties in interest.—

(1) All matters requiring court authorization under this chapter shall be brought by motion,

except for the following matters, which shall be brought by supplemental proceeding, as

provided in subsection (2):

(b) An action by the assignee to determine the validity, priority, or extent of a lien or other

interest in property or to subordinate or avoid an unperfected security interest under s.
727.109(8)(b); and
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The way the statute is written, only this Court has the exclusive jurisdiction to determine
what is, and what is not, an asset of the estate, and the exclusive way to do that is by the Assignee’s
filing of a Supplemental Proceeding, service of process, and litigation under the Florida Rules of
Civil Procedure. The Objectors have the procedural due process rights under Chapter 727 to be
sued in a supplemental proceeding, discovery, motions practice, and trial, before the Court can
essentially enter a declaratory judgment determining that the Objectors’ direct claims are property
of the estate and extinguishing the claims of the Objectors. This cannot be accomplished through
motions practice.

Moreover, since only this Court has subject matter jurisdiction, other courts cannot
interpret either the statute or the order and make independent interpretations. If the order is
sufficiently ambiguous to leave doubt as to what is released, the parties will have to come back to
this Court under Rule 1.540 and ask for clarification.

Issue 6: The Motion is not Supported by Competent, Admissible Evidence.
The Settlement Motion and the Settlement and Release are not supported by evidence. As stated
by the Fourth DCA:

Fourth, the practice we wish to see terminated is that of attorneys making unsworn
statements of fact at hearings which trial courts may consider as establishing facts. It is
essential that attorneys conduct themselves as officers of the court; but their unsworn
statements do not establish facts in the absence of stipulation. Trial judges cannot rely upon
these unsworn statements as the basis for making factual determinations; and this court
cannot so consider them on review of the record. If the advocate wishes to establish a fact,
he must provide sworn testimony through witnesses other than himself or a stipulation to
which his opponent agrees.

Leon Shaffer Golnick Advert. v. Cedar, 423 So. 2d 1015, 1016-17 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)
(Exhibit B Page 1).

The Settlement Motion is not supported by any evidence at all. Essentially, the Assignee

asks the Court to abdicate the Court’s jurisdictional role as fact finder. The Assignee’s position is
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an “"it is because I say it is" position. This sort of ipse dixit reasoning is insufficient to support a
finding ...” State v. Wooten, 260 So. 3d 1060, 1067 (Fla. 4th DCA 2018).

The applicable statute, §727.109, states that ““ [t]he court shall have power to:
(1) Enforce all provisions of this chapter.
(7) Upon notice as provided under s. 727.111 to all creditors and consensual lienholders,
hear and determine a motion brought by the assignee for approval of a proposed sale of
assets of the estate other than in the ordinary course of business, or the compromise or
settlement of a controversy, and enter an order granting such motion notwithstanding the
lack of objection if the assignee reasonably believes that such order is necessary to proceed
with the action contemplated by the motion. (emphasis added).

The Court, not the Assignee, has the power to determine a motion brought by the Assignee
for approval of a settlement, and evidence is required. Without evidence, the motion must be
denied.

In the same vein, the Settlement Motion and the Settlement and Release include multiple
agreed conclusions of law that the Assignee has no standing to declare, including “the Parties agree
that the Assignee has sole legal standing and authority to pursue and settle the Claims in
accordance with Chapter 727, Florida Statutes, as assignee for the benefit of creditors of the LSI
Entities,” Settlement and Release, Page 3, and asks this Court to declare that this Order is
appealable as a partial final judgment, Proposed Order, page 3. The Release also includes language
that the release includes, “any claims for failing to obtain adequate insurance for the companies
and implementing or continuing self-insurance programs for professional liability insurance,
medical malpractice insurance, and employee health insurance,” Settlement and Release, P. 5.
This is entirely too broad as it purports to include Objectors’ claims.

The specific areas where admissible evidence should be required are:

a. “The Collection Factor.” Assignee alleges that “there is substantial doubt as to the

collectability of any judgment that might be obtained against the Defendants,” without
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evidence. The Settlement Motion does not state the available coverage limits, provide
any estimate of defense costs that would erode coverage limits as a wasting policy, or,
perhaps most importantly, provide financial statements or affidavits of the Defendants.
There is no evidence from which the Court can rule that judgments would not be
collectible.

“Complexity of Litigation.” Assignee contends that multi-year litigation would result
in a significant investment in legal and professional fees, however, the contingency fee
agreements attached to the Settlement Motion provide that the attorneys are on a pure
contingency fee basis for all filed lawsuits, and also, the attorneys have the obligation
to advance costs until such time as the Assignee has sufficient funds to pay costs. The
fact that the projected damages could approach $750,000,000.00 and essentially pay all
claims in full justify, minimally, admission of expert testimony on a reasonable
litigation budget to litigate these claims. The number of documents and depositions
estimated by Assignee, 20 depositions and 30,000 documents, are not so unwieldly or
expensive to walk away from hundreds of millions of dollars in recovery due to
“complexity.” Frankly, there is nothing all that complex about what occurred. It is well
documented that on July 2, 2015, LSI’s Former Managers stripped $150,000,000 of
balance sheet equity leaving the company without any free cash reserves and amassing
millions of dollars in debt including uninsured medical malpractice claims. All of the
transfers are clearly voidable and the Assignee makes no effort to explain any possible
defenses to any of the claims. There do not appear to be any substantial defenses.
Further, since LSI had multiple attorneys and accountants, there is no discussion of

those third party claims.
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c. “Paramount Interest of Creditors.” The settlement will result in the general unsecured
creditors receiving such a nominal recovery that the recovery is meaningless. A
$9,000,000.00 settlement, less $2,050,080.00 in contingency legal fees, less the
$1,000,000.00 approx. allocation to TCB assuming something in the neighborhood of
the current request is allowed, less administrative fees of approximately $4,000,000.00
as stated in the recently filed issue statement for trial on the TCB compromise, would
yield, at best $1,000,000 to $2,000,000 in distributions for what appear to be over
$600,000,000 in claims or less than a penny on the dollar. While this does not
necessarily mean that the settlement should not be approved, if the settlement is
nevertheless a reasonable recovery for creditors, a more thorough evidentiary analysis
must be presented to the Court for the Court to approve on an evidentiary basis this
settlement that essentially pays only administrative claims while all other creditors
receive such a nominal recovery to effectively be zero. This is particularly important
because, if successful, the veil piercing litigation would result in the payment of 100%
of the allowed claims.

d. And, as stated above, evidence as to the scope of the property of the estate and the
extent of the proposed releases must be adjudicated by the Court, not simply declared
by the Assignee.

This is in addition to the above claims that no evidence has been presented to establish that
the Objectors direct claims are property of the estate. Cited cases are attached as Composite
Exhibit B.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Objectors respectfully request that the Settlement Motion be denied.
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Wherefore; the Objectors request that the Settlement Motion be denied, and for such other
relief as the Court deems appropriate.
Certificate of Service: I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was efiled and service

will be made through the Court’s efiling service this 16 day of April, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Donald J. Schutz

Donald J. Schutz, Esq.

Fla Bar No. 382701

535 Central Avenue

St. Petersburg, FL 33701
727-823-3222/727-895-3222 Telefax
donschutz@netscape.net (Secondary)
don@lawus.com (Primary)

Attorney for Objectors
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Filing # 125075792 E-Filed 04/16/2021 01:40:36 PM

s LASER SPINE INSTITUTE"®

LS! Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

April 2017 March 2017 December 2016
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 1,318,383 S 1,681,657 § 3,660,344
Accounts receivable 79,631,179 80,679,551 89,184,339
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (42,505,526) (44,117,586) (48,557,150}
Net accounts receivable 37,125,653 36,561,965 40,627,189
Notes receivable 19,406,100 19,077,820 16,926,650
Less: Allowance for uncollectible notes {5,232,324) (5,010,697) {4,014,672)
Net notes receivable 14,173,776 14,067,123 12,911,978
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 8,597,910 8,735,097 8,621,945
Medical supplies inventory 604,157 612,835 605,434
Total current assets 61,819,879 61,658,677 66,426,890
Fixed assets
Property and equipment 116,674,865 116,508,545 116,067,803
Less: accumulated depreciation (42,131,058) (41,653,950) (38,958,337)
Net fixed assets 74,543,807 74,854,595 77,109,466
Restricted cash - - 1,774,552
Other long term assets 1,666,748 1,634,737 997,983
Total assets $ 138,030,434 $ 138,148,009 $ 146,308,891
Liabilities and members' equity (deficit}
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable S 9,941,342 S 10,674,835 S 12,363,606
Accrued expenses 32,421,285 37,536,028 41,768,578
Patient reimbursements 672,695 672,752 688,808
Current portion of deferred lease expense 1,945,350 1,945,350 1,945,350
Current portion of capital lease obligations 111,422 125,100 164,699
Current maturities of long-term debt 7,500,000 7,500,000 3,750,000
Total current liabilities 52,592,094 58,454,065 60,681,041
Long-term debt
Line of credit 7,000,000 - 6,425,081
Term loan, less current maturities 127,500,000 127,500,000 131,250,000
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (2,150,852) {2,264,055) (2,603,664)
Long-term debt less unamortized debt issuance costs - 132,349,148 125,235,945 135,071,417
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred lease expense 18,322,443 18,271,696 18,084,290
Capital lease abligations 978,248 978,248 978,248
Professional liability risks 7,250,205 7,188,201 6,696,521
Total other long-term liabilities 26,550,896 26,438,145 25,759,059
Total liabilities 211,492,138 210,128,155 221,511,517
Members' equity (deficit} (73,461,704) (7.1:980,146) (75,202,626)
Total liabilities and members' equity (deficit) $ 138,030,434 $ 138,748,009 $ 146,308,891

Last Updated: 5/18/20172:46 PM
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LASER SPINE INSTITUTE®

LSl Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

One Month Ended Four Months Ended
April 2017 April 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss S {1,481,557) S (5,256,601)
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash from
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 625,473 3,924,109
Bad debt expense 893,859 3,346,924
Loss on disposal of property and equipment - 104,400
Amortization of deferred loan costs 113,203 452,812

Loss on debt modification - -
Incentive compensation units - -
Changes in assets and liabilities:

{Increase) decrease in:

Inventory 8,678 1,277
Accounts receivable {1,235,920) 1,372,264
Notes receivable {328,280) (2,479,450)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,783 (8,793)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable (733,493) (2,422,264)
Patient reimbursements (57} {16,113}
Accrued expenses, including deferred lease expense {5,001,993) (8,555,457}
Net cash from operating activities (7,136,304) (9,536,892)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (166,320) (1,399,925)
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment - 87,700
Change in restricted cash - 1,774,552
Acquisition of intangible assets (46,972) (786,562)
Net receiptskof {disbursements for) other assets - -
Net cash from investing activities {213,292) (324,235)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings on leng-term debt - -
Principal payments on long-term debt -
Net payments on revolving credit agreements 7,000,000 574,919

Financing costs paid - -
Principal payments on capital lease obligations {13,678) {53,277)
Distributions to members - -
Contributions from members B - 6,997,524
Net cash from financing activities 6,986,322 7,519,166
Net change in cash S (363,274) (2,341,961)

Cash and cash equivalents :
Beginning e ...l 16B1657 B -3,660,344
Ending $ 1,318,383 S 1,318,383

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 993,161 S 3,664,947

Last Updated: 5/18/20172:47 PM
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LASER SPINE INSTITUTE"

LSI Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Members' Equity {Deficit)

Four Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
December 2016

Beginning balance S (75,202,626) 5 (58,634,885)
Members' distributions - -
Members' contributions 6,997,524 -
Conversion of debt to membership units - 50,250,002
Incentive compensation units - 157,074
Net income/{loss) (5,256,601) (66,974,818)

Ending balance S (73,461,704) S (75,202,626)

Last Updated: 5/18/20172:48 PM
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‘s LASER SPINE INSTITUTE"

151 Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries I 7Y T S N
Consofidated Statement of Operations April 2017 April 2017
Actual vs. Budget Actual Rev% Budget Revts $ var %Var Actual Rew Burdget Revsh $var ¢ %Var
Time of Service 5,410,605 32.7% 6,661,005 318%  (1,250,400) 18.8% 25,453,246 33.8% 25715937 11.8% (262,651 -1.0%
Patiert Remraining Respansibility 482,144 29% 742,000 35% (259,83%8)  -35.0% 2,051,173 27% 2,702,475 33% (651,302)  -24.1%
Insurarce Reven.e 10,470,463 63.3% 12,936,286 61.8%  (2465823)  -19.1% 46,089,865 612%  49,344.481 618% __ (3,854,616) -7.7%
Surgical Revenue 16,363,212 98.9% 20,339,291 97.0% (3976079  -19.5% 73,594,284 97.6% 78,362,893 97.0% (4,768,609} 6.1%
Non Surgical Revenue 60,031 0.4% 238,500 11% {1/8,859)  -74.8% 752,783 10% 1,004,875 12% (252092)  -25.1%
Other Revenue 125,997 0.8% 341,200 1.6% (215203) _ -63.1% 1,020,316 14% 1,431,200 18% (410.884)  -28.7%
REVENUE 16,549,240 100.0% 20,918,991  100.0%  [(4,369,751)  -20.9% 75367383  100.0% 80,798,968  100.0%  {5,43L585) 6.7%
Salaries and Wages 6,123,087 37.0% 6,794,118 32.5% 1671,036) -9.9% 28,563,743 37.9% 30,522,593 37.8%  {1.958.850) -6.4%
Benefits 713314 43% 887,458 4.2% (174,142)  -19.6% 3,890,966 5.2% 4,070,457 5.0% {179,491 -2.4%
Medical Supplics 1,172,657 7.1% 1,618,515 77% (ads,838)  -27.5% 5,669,145 75% 6,251,426 7.7% {582,281 -9.3%
Patient Fees 15,339 0.1% 771,590 1.3% (255,651 -94.1% 716,004 10% 930,890 12% (264,886)  -27.0%
Equipment Rent And Maintenance 156,479 0.9% 200,605 1.0% (44,126)  -22.0% 725,650 10% 827,480 1.0% (100,£30)  -123%
Building Rent, Utilities, And Maintenance 1,178,239 7.1% 1,236,834 5.9% (58,545} 47% 4,583,072 6.1% 4,889,049 6.1% (305,977) -6.3%
Advertising And Marketing 4,435,981 26.8% 4,394,660 21.0% 41321 0.9% 17,507,009 23.2% 17,818,242 22.1% (311,233) -17%
Professional Fees 257,129 16% 245,834 1.2% 7,295 29% 834,567 1.2% 870,985 11% 13,582 16%
Frovision for Bad Ockts 803,859 5.4% 941,355 £.5% (47,496) -5.0% 3,336,928 a.a% 3,135,954 39% 210,970 67%
Other Uperating txpenses 1,444,102 87% 1,564,647 7.5% 1120,545) 1% 5,984,095 7.9% 6.075,131 7.5% (91,036} -15%
TOYAL OPERATING EXPENSES 16,390,781 99.0% 18,159,666 86.8%  (1,768,885) 8.7% 71,871,175 95.4% 75,442,207 934% (3,571,033 4.7%
ADIUSTED EBITDA 158,459 10% 2,759,325 13.2% (2,600,866) -94.3% 3,396,208 46% 5,356,761 6.6% 11,860.553) __ -34.7%
1.0% 13.2% -12.2% 4.6% 6.6% -2.0%
Total Non Recurring Expenses £4,757 0.4% 27,416 0.1% 37336 136.2% 816,478 11% 886,606 11% {70,128} -7.8%
EBITDA 93,707 0.6% 2,731,909 130%  (2638,202)  -95.6% 2,679,730 3.6% 4,470,155 5.5% _ (1790,425)  40.1%
Interest Expense/ Income 943,733 5.7% 968,540 4.6% {18,847) -19% 2,002,219 5.3% 4,024,560 5.0% (12341 -0.3%
Depreciation & Amortization 625,473 3.8% 1,072,510 5.1% (487137)  -417% 3,924,109 5.2% 4,158,528 5.1% (234,419 -56%
Tatal Other Non Dperating Expenses 1,575,266 9.5% 2,041,250 9.8% (465984)  -22.8% 7.936.328 10.5% 8,183,088 10.1% (245,760! -3.0%
NET INCOME/LOSS (1,481,559) 9.0% 690,659 33%  (2172,218) -3145% (5,256,598) 7.0%  (3,712,933) 46% (1,503,665}  4L6%
[statisti
wID 822 9299 {177 3,686 3,909 (223)
mis 49 61 (12) 250 246 4
Total surgical votume 871 1,060 (189) 3,936 4,155 (219}
Rate Per Surgery 18,787 19,188 (101 18,698 18,860 (263
Provision for Bad Deb: (1,026) {B8R) (138) (850) (755} - 196
Net Rate Per Surgery 17,760 18,300 (539) 17,847 18,105 (258)
FTE's 843 839 a 843 839 4
Patient Days 20 20 8 8
Payroll Days 20 20 85 & -
Expenses/Net Revenue 95.0% 36.8% 122% 95.4% 93.9% 2.0%
Collections/Net Revenue 915% 0.0% 915% 99.1% no% 99.1%

Last Updated: 5/18/20172:49 91
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$ LASER SPINE INSTITUTE"

LS1 Holdso, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consclidated Statement of Operations
Year over Year April 2017 Revs% April 2016 Revi $ Var YoVar April 2017 Revi April 2016 Revo Svar 7 %Var
Time of Service 5410605 32.7% 7,272,621 33.7%  (1,862016)  -25.6% 25,453,246 33.8% 25,557,978 30.3% 104,732) -0.4%
Patient Remaining Responsibility 482,144 29% 246,043 1.6% 136,101 30.3% 2,051,173 2.7% 1,358,353 1.6% 692,820 51.0%
insurance Revenue 10,470,463 §3.3%  13.933,970 64.6%  (3,463507)  -24.9% 145,085,865 61.2% 57,329,456 €79%  (11,239,501)  -19.6%
Surgical Revenue 16,363,212 D3.5%  21.552,634 99.9%  (5189,422)  -24.1% 73,594,281 S7.6% 84,245,787 59.8% (10,651,503  -12.6%
Non Surgical Revanue 50,03) 0.4% - 0.0% 60,031 100.0% 752,783 1.0% - 0.0% 752,783 100.0%
Other Revenue 125,997 0.8% 19,945 0.1% 106051 531.7% 1,020,316 1.4% 166.238 0.2% 554078 513.8%
REVENUE 16549,240  100.0% 21,572,580  100.0%  (5023340) -23.3% 75,367,283 100.0% 84,412,025  100.0% (9,084,642}  -10.7%
Salaries and Wages 6,123,082 37.0% 9,669,503 44.8%  (3,546511)  -36.7% 28,563,743 37.9% 36545189 433%  (7,981,446)  -21.8%
Renefits 713,314 23% 1,358,513 6.3% (645,199)  -£7.5% 3,890,966 5.2% 6,044,083 72%  (2,153,517)  35.6%
Wedical Supplies 1,172,657 7.10% 2,192,986 102%  (1L020,329)  46.5% 5.669,145 7.5% 8,590,382 102%  (2,921237)  -36.0%
Patient Fees 15,939 0.1% 630,856 29% (614917)  -97.5% 716,004 1.0% 2,287,381 7% {1571,377)  -68.7%
Equipment Rent And Maintenance 156,479 0.9% 169,090 0.8% (12,611) 5% 725,650 1.0% 717,451 0.8% 2,199 11%
Building Rent, Utilities, And Maintenance 1,178,239 7.1% 1,360,304 6.4% (212,065)  -15.3% 4,583,072 6.1% 4,530,842 5.4% 52,230 12%
Advertising And Marketing 4,435,981 26.8% 4,468,056 20.7% (32,075) 0% 17,504,004 232% 20,549,844 43% (3,042,835 -14.8%
Professionat Fees 257,120 16% 794,269 3% (537,140)  -67.6% 884,567 1.2% 2,863,418 34% (1978851  -69.1%
Provision far Bad Debts 893,859 5.4% 732,785 3.4% 161,124 22.0% 3,346,924 4.4% 1,653,034 2.0% 1,693,800 102.5%
Other Operating Expenses 1,444,102 87% 1,573,589 7.3% (129.487) -8.2% 5.584,095 7.9% 6,438,390 7.6% 454,295} -7.1%
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 16,390,781 99.0% 22,980,001  1065%  (6,589,220)  28.7% 71,871,175 95.4% 90220414  106.9% (18,389,239}  20.3%
ADJUSTED EBITDA 158,459 10%  (1,807,821)  6.5% 1,565,880  -111.3% 3,496,208 46%  (5808,389)  -6.9% 9,304,597  -160.2%
10% -6.5% 7.5% a.5% -6.9% 11.5%
Total Non Recurring Expenses 64,752 0.4% 72,092 03% (7340)  -102% 816,478 11% (906,749) 1% 1,723,227 -190.0%
EBITDA 93,707 06% (1,479,513 59% 1,573,220 -106.3% 2,676,730 36% (4,901,640 5.8% 7,581,370 _ -154.7%
Inte-est Expense/ Income 949,793 57% 660,629 3.1% 289,164 23.8% 4,012,219 5.3% 2,533,624 3.0% 1,472,595 58.0%
Depreciation & Amortization 625,473 38% 718,583 36% (153111)  -19.7% 3,924,109 5.2% 3,230,900 3.8% 693,200 21.5%
Total Other Non Operating Expenses 1,575,266 95% 1,439,213 6.7% 136,053 9.5% 7,936,328 10.5% 5,770,533 6.8% 2165795 37.5%
NET INCOME/LOSS (1.481,559)  -9.0%  (2,918,726)  -13.5% 1437,167 _ 49.2% (5.256,598) 7.0% (10,672,173}  -12.6% 5015575 50.7%
822 1131 {309) 3,686 4,387 {701)
a9 78 (29} 250 an (s1)
Total Surgical volume 871 1.209 (338) 3,935 4,688 (752"
Rate Per Surgery 18,787 17,827 960 18,698 17,971 727
Provision for Bad Debt (1.026) {606} {a20) (850} (353) 1458)
Net Rate Per Surgery 17,760 17,221 540 17,847 17,618 229
FTE's 843 1185 {244) 843 1,186 (344)
Patient Days 20 0 - 2 84 -
Payroll Days 20 0 - 85 85 -
Expenses/Net Revenue 99.0% 106.5% 75% 95.4% 106.9% -11.5%
Collections/Net Revenue 91.5% 0.0% 91.5% 99.1% 00% 90.1%

Last Updated: 5/18/70172:45 M
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s LASER SPINE INSTITUTE®

LSl Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Trend

Time of Service 7,272,621 6,128,061 6,581,236 6,061,752 6329324 " 5679481 5,902,973 5,895,307 5,419,069 §,204,274 6,206,572 7,031,795 5,410,605
Patient Remaining Respansibility 346,043 280,527 341,530 429,956 464,533 395,522 442,495 340,653 310,562 551636 448480 568,909 a82,1a4
Insurance Revenue 13,533,970 13,854,748 14,475,955 12,984,117 14,686,000 12,933,836 12,728524 13,634,238 15,133,148 11,241,518 10,774,520 13,603,355 10,470,463
Surgical Revenue 21,552,634 20,263,336 21,398,721 19,475,345 21,485,862 19,008,839 19,079.992 15,870,298 20,863,079 18,597,428 17429585 - 71,208,059 16,363,212
Non Surgical Revenue - - - - - - - 383,757 261,970 300,338 319,504 72,910 60,031
Other Revenue 19,946 43,252 510,590 194,943 35.615 29.101 22.268 19,/ 18818 437,923 168,086 278,310 125,997
REVENUE 572,580 20,312,568 21,909,311 13,670,788 21,525,477 19,037,940 15,102,260 20,273,810 21,143,867 19,345,689 17,917,175 21,555,279 16,545,240
Salaries and Wages 9,669,593 9,705,510 9,419,373 8,183,654 8,814,385 8591974 7,738,648 8,310,942 8,546,623 2,763,537 7,066,689 7610437 6,123,082
Benefits 1,358,513 1,577,145 1,515,049 1482.772 1,130,674 1250178 836,842 1,096,110 740,889 1,226,997 944,350 1,006,306 713314
Medical Supplies 2,192,986 2,213,741 1,902,420 1,849,952 1,504,014 1,411,159 1,531,361 1,570,207 1,952,703 1,497,470 1,383,511 1615511 1,172,657
Patient keas 630,856 612,570 619,475 595,122 220,951 (a7.655) 163,029 216,954 471,441 163879 763,128 273,057 15,939
Equipment Rent And Maintenance 169,090 258,096 252,628 247,812 250,772 147,087 175,257 208,002 223,080 169,969 191,742 207,461 156,479
Building Rent, Utilities, And Maintenance 1,360,304 1,483,149 1,509,502 1,871,768 1,460,574 1363930 1,358,131 1,237,878 960,077 1,048,128 1,166,887 1,189,220 1,178,239
Advertising And Marketing 4,468,056 4,741,146 4,618317 4,449,388 4,521,267 4,600,664 4,752,325 4,600,299 4,797,956 4,305,408 4,288,033 4477591 4,435,981
Professional Fees 794,269 626,191 640,011 209,568 638,909 427,456 268,592 253,916 10,893,916 162,194 233,435 231,308 257,129
Provisian for Bad Debts 732745 744,568 737,396 868,579 1,284,741 1,114,150 976,136 847.585 9.968.700 1.104.078 451,138 897.850 893,859
Other Operating Expenses 1,573,589 1,336,244 1,357.173 1,325,954 1,213,521 1,158,303 1,246,751 1,268,732 3,326,775 1,500,733 1,504,143 1,535,122 144,102
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 22,980,001 23,308,360 22,571,744 21,175,079 21,250,357 20,021,282 15,048,072 19,610,635 31,832,160 18,942,393 17,493,085 19,044,963 16,390,781
ADJUSTED ERITDA (1.407.421) (2,995,772) (662,433} {1,504.291) 275,120 (983,342} 54,188 663,175 {20,688,293) 403,296 424,120 2,510,316 158,459
6.5% 10.7% -2.0% 7.6% 1.3% 2% 0.3% 3.3% 57.8% 2.1% 4% 11.6% 1.0%
Total Non Recurring Expenses 72,092 258,834 1,095,012 1,110,453 2,349,741 564,642 1,230,235 1,453,663 5,086,935 35,270 433,802 282,654 64,752
EBITDA (1479,513)  [3,254606)  {1,757,045)  (2,612,744)  (2,094,621]  [L647,984})  (1,176,047) (790,388) __(25,775,228) 368,026 (5,682 3,237,662 53,707
Interest Expense/ Income 660,629 663,946 929,551 957,508 1,185,646 1,402,251 1,145,207 1,449,008 1,368,648 1,021,384 937,380 1,103,063 949,793
Depraciation & Amortization 778,584 769.240 963,824 914,023 1005,977 1,019,944 1,020,709 1.00:.279 1,404,647 1,104,634 1,098,293 1,095,710 625,473
Total Other Non Operating Expenses 1439213 1,433,186 1,393,375 187,531 2,201,623 2,422,195 2,165,916 2,450,377 2,773,200 2,126,618 2,035,673 2,198,772 1,575,266
NET INCOME/LOSS (2918,726) _ (4,687,752)  (3,650,820)  (4,486,2751  {4,276,244]  (4,070179)  (3,341,963) (3,240,865  (28,548,518)  [1,758,502) (2,085,355) 26,889 13,481,559}
[Statistics:
MD 1131 1058 1,165 w027 1,078 962 a3 1,003 1,102 917 850 1,037 822
MIs 78 66 72 68 73 63 62 67 63 S5 el 77 43
Total Surgical votume 1,208 1120 1,237 1,095 1,129 1,025 Lo1 1,070 1,165 1,032 919 1114 871
Rate Per Surgery 17,827 18,092 17,299 17,786 18,703 18,545 18572 18,570 17,308 18,021 13,366 15,034 18,787
Provision for Bad Debt (606] 1665) (596) (7933 (1,127} (1.087) (966} (792) (8,557) (1,070) a31) (306) (1,026)]
Net Rate Per Surgery 17,221 17,427 16,703 16,993 17,576 17,458 17,507 17.778 5,351 16,951 18,475 18,228 17.760
FTE's 1,186 1,181 1,100 1,055 284 587 967 994 o71 959 935 902 843
Patient Days 2 21 k) 20 7 1 2 n n 1 20 b ] 20
Payroll Days 21 2 2 21 23 2 21 22 22 22 20 23 20
Experses/Net Ravenve 06.5% 114.7% 103.0% 107.6% 98.7% 105.2% 99.7% 96.7% 197.6% $7.9% 97.6% 88.4% 52.0%|
Collections/Net Revenua 0.9% co% 0.0% 0.0% 0% 0.0% 0.0% 00% 0.0% 100.0% 109 9% 95.3% 91.5%)
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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‘

LSI Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Net accounts receivable

Notes receivable
Less: Allowance for uncollectible notes
Net notes receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Medical supplies inventory
Total current assets

Fixed assets
Property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Net fixed assets

Restricted cash
Other long term assets

Total assets

Liabilities and members' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Patient reimbursements

Current portion of deferred lease expense

Current portion of capital lease obligations

Current maturities of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Line of credit
Term loan, less current maturities
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs

Long-term debt less unamortized debt issuance costs

Other long-term liabilities
Deferred lease expense
Capital lease obligations
Professional liability risks
Total other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Members' equity (deficit)

Total liabilities and members’ equity (deficit)

LASER SPINE INSTITUTE’

January 2018 December 2017

$ 2,098,272 $ 8,935,486
55,189,712 58,207,796
(27,873,151) (28,890,493)
27,316,561 29,317,303
18,604,925 18,355,843
(5,171,793) (4,982,828)
13,433,132 13,373,015
9,791,414 10,085,231

645,222 644,338
53,284,601 62,355,373
120,502,830 120,217,632
(53,167,795) (51,984,252)
67,335,035 68,233,380
1,089,390 1,073,542

$ 121,709,026 $ 131,662,295

$ 13,379,144 $ 14,713,960
27,745,731 31,293,245

542,260 602,301

792,128 792,128

279,490 302,801
25,687,500 25,937,500
68,426,253 73,641,935
15,000,000 15,000,000
115,312,500 115,312,500
(1,528,580) (1,676,262)
128,783,920 128,636,238
18,826,781 18,885,347

872,761 872,761
8,804,812 8,669,934
28,504,354 28,428,042
225,714,527 230,706,215
(104,005,501) (99,043,920)

$ 121,709,026 $ 131,662,295
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CONFIDENTIAL

LSI Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash from
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Amortization of deferred loan costs
Loss on debt modification
Incentive compensation units
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:
Inventory
Accounts receivable
Notes receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Patient reimbursements
Accrued expenses, including deferred lease expense
Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Change in restricted cash
Net cash from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings on long-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt
Net payments on revolving credit agreements
Financing costs paid
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Distributions to members
Contributions from members
Net cash from financing activities

Net change in cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning
Ending

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest

Exhibit A to Objection Page 000009
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One Month Ended
January 2018

{4,961,581)

1,194,261
188,966
147,681

(884)
2,000,742

(249,083)
267,252

(1,334,816)
(60,041)
(3,471,201)

{6,278,704)

(285,199)

{285,199)

(250,000)
(23,311)

(273,311)

(6,837,214)

8,935,486

2,098,272

986,616

Last Updated: 2/23/20189:40 AM
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LSI Holdco, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Members' Equity (Deficit)

One Month Ended Twelve Months Ended
January 2018 December 2017

Beginning balance S (99,043,920) S (75,202,626)
Members' distributions - -
Members' contributions - 22,152,430

Conversion of debt to membership units - -

Incentive compensation units - -

Net income/(loss) (4,961,581) (45,993,723.71)
Ending balance S (104,005,501) S {99,043,920)

Last Updated: 2/23/20189:40 AM
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Issuing Company:
National Fire & Marine Insurance Company
Omaha, Nebraska

EN004806
LSI HoldCo LLC

Forming Part of Policy No.:
Issued to:

From 01/01/2018 to 07/01/2019 at 12:01 a.m. at the address of the First Named

Policy Period:
Insured stated herein.

SCHEDULE OF UNDERLYING COVERAGE

Professional Liability Coverage Part:

NAME OF CARRIER/
POLICY NUMBER/
POLICY PERIOD

Laser Spine Institute LLC Self Insured
Retention
01-01-18 to 07-01-19

TYPE OF COVERAGE PROVIDED LIMITS OF LIABILITY

Professional Liability - Claims Made The professional underlying SIR is a
combined single limit of liability of
$1,000,000 per claim/$6,000,000

aggregate for Indemnity and Expense

$500,000 each Loss Event
$1,500,000 Annual Aggregate

Mcare Fund
03-01-17 to 03-01-18

Professional Liability

Excess of:

National Fire & Marine Insurance
Company

Policy Number HN004806

General Liability Coverage Part:

NAME OF CARRIER/
POLICY NUMBER/
POLICY PERIOD

TYPE OF COVERAGE PROVIDED LIMITS OF LIABILITY

Laser Spine Institute LLC Self Insured
Retention
01-01-18 to 07-01-19

General Liability - Occurrence

The general liability underlying SIR is a
combined single limit of liability of $25,000
per claim/$50,000 aggregate for

indemnity and expense.

Follow Form Coverage Part:

NAME OF CARRIER/ TYPE OF COVERAGE PROVIDED LIMITS OF LIABILITY FOLLOWED
POLICY NUMBER/ POLICY
POLICY PERIOD INDICATED
BY X
The Hartford Automobile Liability $1,000,000 X
20 UEN IA2588
03-01-17 to 03-01-18
The Hartford Employers Liability Per Event Limit of Liability X
20 WB AS7258 Employment-Related Accident:
03-01-17 to 03-01-18 $1,000,000
Per Employee Limit of Liability
Employment-Related Disease:

3003-TXX-00-1215 Page 1 of 2 © 2015 MedPro Group. All rights reserved.
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$1,000,000

Policy Limit of Liability
Employment-Related Disease:
$1,000,000

3003-TXX-00-1215 Page 2 of 2 © 2015 MedPro Group. All rights reserved.
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

CliftonLarsonAllen

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Managers
LS| HoldCo LLC and Subsidiaries
Tampa, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of LSl HoldCo LLC and
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, and the related
consolidated statements of income, changes in members’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year
then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

(1
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Board of Managers
LS| HoldCo LLC and Subsidiaries

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of LS| HoldCo LLC and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matter

The 2016 consolidated financial statements of LS| HoldCo LLC and Subsidiaries were audited by other
auditors whose report dated May 5, 2017, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

DRAFT ONLY

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
REPORT DATE

)
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

2017 2016
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 8,935 $ 3,660
Accounts Receivable, Net 29,317 40,627
Notes Receivable, Net 13,297 12,912
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 9,665 9,227
Total Current Assets 61,214 66,426
RESTRICTED CASH - 1,775
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, Less Accumulated Depreciation 68,233 77,109
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, Net of Amortization 770 612
OTHER ASSETS 303 386
Total Assets $ 130,520 $ 146,308
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable $ 13,862 $ 12,362
Accrued Expenses 31,345 41,769
Current Portion of Deferred Lease Expense 695 1,945
Patient Reimbursements 338 389
Deferred Revenue 265 300
Current Maturities of Capital Leases 303 165
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 15,938 3,750
Total Current Liabilities 62,746 60,680
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities 128,636 135,071
Other Long-Term Liabilities, Less Current Portion 9,670 6,697
Deferred Lease Expense, Less Current Portion 18,403 18,084
Capital Lease Obligations, Less Current Portion 873 978
Loans from Members 10,000 -
Total Long-Term Liabilities 167,582 160,830
Total Liabilities 230,328 221,510
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
MEMBERS' DEFICIT (99,808) (75,202)
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 130,520 $ 146,308

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

®3)
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

NET PATIENT REVENUE $

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel Costs
General and Administrative
Patient Care Costs
Bad Debt Expense
Depreciation and Amortization

Total Operating Expenses

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Other Revenue
Interest Expense, Net
Incentive Unit Compensation

Total Other Income (Expense)

NET LOSS $

2017 2016

187,456 246,341
90,810 127,816
90,132 117,402
17,634 27,818
9,016 18,205
14,319 11,330
221,911 302,571
(34,455) (56,230)
1,223 1,047
(13,526) (11,651)
- (140)
(12,303) (10,744)
(46,758) (66,974)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

4)
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

BALANCE - DECEMBER 31, 2015 $ (58,635)
Conversion of Debt to Membership Units 50,250
Incentive Compensation Units 157
Net Loss (66,974)

BALANCE - DECEMBER 31, 2016 (75,202)
Conversion of Debt to Membership Units 15,155
Member Contributions 6,997
Net Loss (46,758)

BALANCE - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ {99,808)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

®)
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Loss
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Bad Debt Expense
Loss on Disposal of Property and Equipment
Amortization of Deferred Loan Costs
Loss on Debt Modification
Incentive Compensation Units
(Increase) Decrease in Assets:
Accounts Receivable
Notes Receivable
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses, and
Deferred Lease Expense
Patient Reimbursements
Deferred Revenue
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment, Net
Purchase of Intangible Assets
Proceeds from Sale of Property and Equipment
Change in Restricted Cash

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings on Long-Term Debt
Proceeds from Convertible Promissory Note
Payments on Long-Term Debt, Including Capital
Lease Obligations

Net Change in Revolving Credit Agreements
Financing Costs Paid on New Debt
Contribution from Members

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6)

2017 2016

$ (46,758) (66,974)
14,319 11,330
11,126 18,205

30 321

1,462 817

78 780

- 157

2,619 8,411
(2,820) (16,829)
(355) (2,722)
1,878 23,015
(51) 297
(35) (28)
(18,507) (23,220)
(13,455) (13,235)
(786) -

98 10

1,775 8,225
(12,368) (5,000)
10,000 50,000
15,155 -
(3,965) (12,072)
8,575 (7,174)
(612) (1,012)
6,997 -
36,150 29,742
5,275 1,522
3,660 2,138

$ 8,935 3,660
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

2017 2016
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest $ 11,439 $ 9,975
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH
INVESTING AND OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Property and Equipment Acquired through Accounts Payable $ 492 $ 9,252
Property and Equipment Acquired through Capital Lease $ 330 $ 1,215
Property and Equipment Acquired through Lease Incentives $ - $ 12,326
Increase in Other Current Assets and Other Liabilities $ - $ (8,172)
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Conversion of Long-Term Debt and Accrued Interest in to
Class A Membership Units $ - $ 50,250
Conversion of Long-Term Debt and Accrued Interest in to
Class A-1 Membership Units $ 15,155 $ -

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

)
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LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

NOTE1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

LS| HoldCo LLC (HoldCo), a Delaware limited liability company, together with its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, provides minimally invasive spinal surgical services and imaging,
diagnostic and pain management services from its out-patient facilities in Florida, Arizona,
Pennsylvania, Oklahoma, Ohio, Rhode Island, and Missouri.

To fulfill its corporate purpose, HoldCo acts as a parent holding company to the following
wholly owned subsidiaries:

o Florida limited liability corporations:
o Laser Spine Institute, LLC
o Laser Spine Surgical Center, LLC
o LSIManagement Company, LLC
o Total Spine Care, LLC (formerly LSI Flexible Schedule, LLC) (no operations)
¢ Laser Spine Surgery Center of Arizona, LLC, an Arizona limited liability corporation
e Laser Spine Surgery Center of Pennsylvania, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability
corporation
¢ Laser Spine Surgery Center of Oklahoma, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability corporation
o Laser Spine Institute Consulting, LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation
o CLM Aviation, LLC (no operations)
o Marodyne Medical, LLC (no operations)
Medical Care Management Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Cleveland, LLC, an Ohio limited liability corporation
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Cincinnati, LLC, an Ohio limited liability corporation
Laser Spine Surgery Center of St. Louis, LLC, a Missouri limited liability corporation
Laser Spine Surgery Center of Warwick, LLC, a Rhode Island limited liability corporation
(no operations)
¢ Ambulatory Anesthesia Resource Group, LLC, a Florida limited liability corporation
¢ Spine DME Solutions, LLC, a Florida limited liability corporation

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of HoldCo and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
HoldCo and the above-mentioned wholly owned subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
(the Company). All material balances and transactions between the entities have been
eliminated upon consolidation.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

(8)

Exhibit A to Objection Page 000022
CONFIDENTIAL TCB_00015399



LSI HOLDCO LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(DOLLARS IN 000°S)

NOTE1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in bank depository accounts which,
at times, exceed federally-insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in
such accounts. Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2016, consists of cash collateral required to be held in
connection with long-term debt. No such collateral was required as of December 31, 2017.

Net Patient Revenue and Accounts Receivable

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts due from
patients, third-party payers and others for services rendered, i<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>